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Introduction







Caesar’s influence on ancient history cannot be understated. Borninto a wealthy patrician family one hundred years before our common era, Gaius Julius Caesar would go on to become the most famous military general and statesman in Roman history. His campaigns played a critical role in the demise of the Roman Republic and the rise of the Roman Empire. Under his military leadership the Roman territory stretched as far as the English Channel in the west, the Rhine in the north and Africa in the south.







When the Roman senate ordered him to step down from his military command, his refusal resulted in a civil war, which would put him in an unrivaled position of power and influence. Under his rule a series of social and governmental reforms not only centralized the Roman government, but also granted him additional authority, which he used to be given the title of "dictator in perpetuity". As such Caesar proved unable to solve the underlying political conflicts, which had led to his rise and on the Ides of March 44 BC, he was assassinated by a group of rebellious senators led by Marcus Junius Brutus.







Caesar's legacy influences world history until today. This book takes a look at the 30 most important events in his life giving you an in-depth view of his achievements and struggles.







-
 
 James Weber

















 Part I: The Early Years













 1) 102/100 BCE - Birth of Gaius Julius Caesar







By modern calendars, the most likely date for the birth of Gaius Julius Caesar is July 13
 th
 100 BCE; there is a small element of doubt over the year with some historians suggesting that it may have been as late as 102 BCE. He was the son of Aurelia Cotta and Gaius Julius Caesar. According to an unlikely legend, the term Caesarean section is derived from the manner of Caesar’s birth. This is almost certainly untrue as up until the 19
 th
 century the procedure was almost universally fatal to the mother and it is documented that Aurelia survived well into Caesar’s adulthood.
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Aeneas of Troy, Caesar’s supposed ancestor







On his mother’s side, Caesar was descended from an influential plebeian family and on his father’s from the Julii, one of Rome’s oldest noble families. According to tradition, the Julii came to Rome in the 7
 th
 century after the city of Alba Longa was sacked by one of Rome’s early kings. The family claimed descendancy from Aeneas of Troy, supposedly a son of the goddess Venus.







Over the centuries preceding Caesar’s birth, the power of the noble, or patrician families, had been eroded as more and more rights and positions of influence were granted to plebeians. The Julii at this time were not considered to be particularly wealthy or influential although his father had a moderately successful career in public office and his aunt Julia was married to the Roman general and statesman Gaius Marius.

























 2) 85 BCE - Caesar’s First Marriage and Sulla’s Dictatorship







Just prior to Caesar’s sixteenth birthday his father passed away making him the paterfamilias, or head of the family. By this time, Caesar had been betrothed, or possibly married, to a girl called Cossutia. Cossutia was the daughter of an extremely wealthy equestrian and would have provided the family with a large dowry, however, aside from the financial benefits, the match would not have provided any substantial advantages to Caesar and he broke it off within a year of his father’s death. Caesar, instead, chose to marry Cornelia the daughter of Cinna. She was from a patrician family and her father was a Consul and the most powerful man in Rome. In time, Cornelia would go on to give Caesar his only legitimate child, a daughter, Julia.
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Cornelia Cinna minor, his first official wife











Rome had been in a state of political turmoil for several years when in 82 BCE, the city was attacked and taken by Sulla, a Roman general and former consul, who believed that he had been wronged by the senate. As soon as Sulla had consolidated his victory, he declared himself dictator and began a bloody process of executing anyone he considered to be an enemy. Sulla had lists of the hundreds of men who were to be arrested and executed drawn up and made publicly available. Anyone who killed one of these men and presented their severed head to Sulla could claim a reward. These lists were subject to a great deal of abuse; victim’s properties were seized and put up for auction leading to the murder of some men simply so their assets could be stolen and in other cases names were added to the list after the act.







Caesar was not wealthy enough or politically important enough to warrant inclusion on one of the proscriptions, however, as his father-in-law Cinna was one of Sulla’s main political rivals, his marriage to Cornelia was not viewed favorably. Sulla ordered Caesar to divorce his wife but, whether out of love or simply stubbornness, he refused to comply. Sulla tried compelling Caesar to obey by confiscating Cornelia’s dowry but still he would not give in. Eventually orders were issued for Caesar’s arrest and, as this was almost certainly a precursor to execution, Caesar fled Rome.







Sulla’s power and influence spread well beyond the confines of the city and Caesar was forced to the live as a fugitive, keeping constantly on the move to avoid capture. One night, when moving between safe-houses, he was captured by a Sullan patrol and only saved himself by bribing the soldiers with 12,000 silver denarii.







The situation was finally resolved when Caesar’s mother Aurelia was able to employ the help of the Vestal Virgins and several important politicians in convincing Sulla to pardon him.





















 3) c. 79 BCE - The Corona Civica and King Nicomedes







Caesar went to the province of Asia to serve on the staff of the governor Marcus MinuciusThermus. Seven years earlier, there had been war in the province at the hands of Mithridates of Pontus and although he had been defeated by Sulla, several of his former allies were still causing problems. Caesar served as a contubernales, or ‘tent-companion’ to the commander meaning that he was able to closely observe how a campaign was run and organized.
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King Nicomedes of Bithynia







Thermus sent Caesar as an emissary to King Nicomedes of Bithynia in order to negotiate a fleet of ships to support the Roman war effort. Bithynia was a client kingdom of Rome and was therefore expected to oblige in such matters. Caesar, evidently enjoying the luxuries that the palace of Bithynia had on offer, lingered there for longer than was strictly necessary; in doing so, he set in motion a series of scandalous rumors. It was said that Caesar had allowed himself to be seduced by the much older Nicomedes. Whilst the Romans often attempted to emulate Hellenistic culture, they did not share the ancient Greek’s acceptance of homosexuality. The Romans considered it to be particularly humiliating for a man to be accused, as was the case with Caesar, of being the passive partner in any romantic encounters. Caesar did not help the matter by returning to Bithynia, shortly after his initial departure, in order to resolve another matter of business.







Whether there was any truth to the rumors is now lost to history. Caesar himself always denied the scandal and later became known as a prolific womanizer, however, he was never able to fully disassociate himself from it. In later years he was sometimes referred to as the ‘Queen of Bithynia’ and on one occasion, whilst representing Nicomedes’ daughter in a legal case, Caesar mentioned his debt to the king, prompting Cicero to retort ‘no more of that please, when everyone knows what he gave to you and what you gave to him’!







Whilst Caesar was in Asia he took part in the siege of Mytilene and it was here that he was provided with his first opportunity to distinguish himself on the battlefield. It is not known precisely what actions he undertook but Caesar was awarded the corona civica; this was Rome’s highest award for gallantry and was usually only granted when a citizen risked his own life to save that of another. Caesar would have been presented with a wreath of oak leaves, either by the man he saved or by the magistrate in command of the army and would have been permitted to wear this at future military parades and festivals.







After Sulla’s death in 78 BCE Caesar, perhaps feeling more assured of his safety in the city, took the opportunity to return to Rome and begin his career as an orator. By all accounts, Caesar was a talented public speaker; Cicero once commented that if he had applied himself fully to this field, he might well have been the best of his generation.





















 4) 75 BCE - Captured By Pirates!







In 75 BCE, Caesar set sail to Rhodes to continue his studies under the tutelage of Apollonius. Whilst en route, he was captured and held to ransom by Cilician pirates. Caesar, as a young patrician from Rome, was a valuable prize for the pirates and they demanded 20 talents of silver in exchange for his freedom. Instead of accepting these terms, Caesar laughed at his captors and insisted that the ransom be raised to 50 silver talents. Once these terms had been agreed upon, Caesar sent most of his companions away to raise the necessary funds. According to Plutarch, Caesar then spent more than a month with only his doctor, two slaves and the pirates for company. Throughout this time Caesar laughed and joked with his captors, read poetry to them and even requested that they be quiet whilst he was trying to sleep. The pirates, for their part, treated him well and took it in good humor when Caesar ‘jokingly’ told them that he would hunt them down and have them all crucified once he was released.
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Map of the Mediterranean Sea







True to his word, as soon as he was freed, Caesar went to the city of Miletus and set about raising a fleet. It says much about Caesar’s abilities as a leader and his easy confidence that, despite never having held public office and having only limited military experience, he was able to convince local provincials to supply him with warships and men to crew them. With this improvised squadron Caesar returned to the pirate stronghold on the island of Pharmacussia. The pirates, caught completely by surprise, were easily overcome and taken prisoner. Caesar took possession of the pirates’ bounty, including his own ransom and returned to the mainland.







The pirates were taken Pergamum to await their fate whilst Caesar hurried to meet with the Asian provincial governor and gain the necessary permissions for a mass execution. The governor, Marcus Iuncus, was, however, engaged with other matters at the time and Caesar, feeling that he was taking too long in dealing with the matter, decided to return to Pergamum and take the law into his own hands. Without legal authority, Caesar ordered the crucifixion of the pirates; because he had been treated well throughout his time in captivity, he had each man’s throat cut before they were crucified.







This exploit serves as perfect encapsulation of the young Caesar’s character. He was able to turn the misfortune of being captured into an opportunity for personal glory. He demonstrated his ability to keep a level head, his charisma in rallying men to his cause, a merciful nature through giving the pirates a quick death and ruthlessness in hunting them down. All of these concepts were important in the Roman world and helped Caesar craft a public image of himself as an ideal Roman.





















 5) 72 BCE - Caesar As Military Tribune







In 72 BCE, Caesar was elected to the position of military tribune. This was his first public office and, although there were 24 military tribunes (each legion having approximately 6 tribunes), it was not without a certain level of prestige.







Sources are scarce on what Caesar did throughout his time as a military tribune. It is known that he spoke in favor of repealing some of the restrictions that Sulla had placed on the tribune of the plebs during his dictatorship; this was once again likely to be an attempt to garner support with the popular faction.
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A Roman military tribune (center) of the late Republic







It is likely, although not certain, that Caesar served in Italy throughout his time in this office. It was also during this period that the Spartan revolt took place and whilst it is probable that Caesar served in the war, there is no definite information on his activities at this time.







It is off note that Pompey and Crassus, who would later go on to form the First Triumvirate with Caesar, were both consuls in 70 BCE.

























 6) 69 BCE - Caesar’s Oration At the Funerals of His Aunt Julia and His Wife Cornelia







In 69 BCE, Caesar suffered the loss of two close female relatives within close succession; first his Aunt Julia, the widow of the Roman hero Gaius Marius and then his wife Cornelia. Whilst it is certainly likely that Caesar was personally saddened by these events, he made full use of the opportunity they presented to further his public career.







Funerals for high-ranking members of Roman society at this time were public affairs. They were intended as opportunities to remind the public of the great and good deeds that had been undertaken by the deceased throughout their life. Politically minded family members responsible for arranging these events could therefore pick and choose which elements of the family history should be emphasized to the public.
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Roman Sarcophagus at the time of Julia’s Death







In the Eulogy he gave for his aunt Julia, Caesar chose to stress the quality of her lineage; on her mother’s side she was the descendant of kings and on her father of the gods themselves. In emphasizing this, Caesar was, of course, reminding the crowd that he also shared this line of descent.







Caesar arranged for symbols of Marius’ victories to play a prominent role in his aunt’s funerary procession; this was in direct defiance to a law passed by Sulla forbidding any public celebration of his rival’s achievements. The decision to do this is likely to have improved the public opinion of Caesar as many still considered Marius to be a great hero of Rome.







In arranging a large public funeral for his wife, Caesar was somewhat breaking with tradition; such funerals were usually preserved for men or elder women like Julia. Caesar’s doing so could be interpreted by the public as evidence of the extent of his grief and the high regard in which he must have held his wife. A more cynical interpretation suggests that Caesar was once again placing himself center stage and attempting to manipulate his public image.

























 7) 68/67 BCE - Caesar as Quaestor and the Extraordinary Generalship of GnaeusPompeius Magnus







In 68 BCE Caesar was elected to the position of quaestor. Roman quaestors had to fulfil a variety of administrative and financial responsibilities and often served as deputies to provincial governors. In Caesar’s case he was sent to Further Spain (Hispania Ulterior). During his travels Caesar supposedly came across a statue of Alexander and wept because he felt that compared to Alexander he had achieved nothing with his life. Upon returning to Rome, Caesar married Sulla’s granddaughter Pompeia.







In 69 BCE, a bill was put before the senate regarding how to deal with the pirates that were currently running rife through the Mediterranean. The bill necessitated placing responsibility for solving the problem into the hands of one man. The most qualified man for undertaking this task was GnaeusPompeius Magnus (Pompey). The senate was initially hesitant to grant so much power to an individual, Caesar, however, was an exception to this being vocal in support for both the bill and Pompey. The bill was eventually passed and Pompey excelled in the position given to him, drastically reducing the number of pirates operating in the Mediterranean in a matter of weeks.
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Marble bust of GnaeusPompeius Magnus







Several years later, Caesar was again given the opportunity to demonstrate his support for Pompey when a bill was presented suggesting that Lucius Licinius Lucullus should be removed from command of the forces fighting against Mithridates. Caesar came out in favor of this and the bill passed, resulting in Pompey being sent to take over the fight. The move to replace Lucullus was done more for political reasons than military ones as he had already a great deal of success against Mithridates; this meant that Pompey was able to enter a war that had already been partially won and ultimately claim glory for the victory.

























 8) 65 BCE - Caesar As CuruleAedile







Prior to his election as a curuleaedile in 65 BCE, Caesar was appointed as curator of the Appian Way, one of the most important roads into Rome. He spent lavishly on the maintenance of the road and it is likely that this played a role in helping to secure his position as one of only 4 aediles.







In his role as an aedile, Caesar would have been responsible for overseeing the maintenance of the city e.g. making sure that the grain supplies were coming in and that temples and aqueducts were well looked after.
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Another responsibility shared by the 2 curuleaediles was the putting on of festivities. In particular, the several weeks of celebrations associated with the festivals of LudiMegalenses (for Cybele, the mother goddess) and Ludi Romani (Roman Games). Caesar shared this responsibility with Marcus CalpurniusBibulus, Cato’s son-in-law. The celebrations they organised took the form of beast fights and dramatic productions; Caesar also placed a great deal of his personal art collection on display in the forum. Although much of this was paid for by the state, the aediles were expected to supplement the expenditure with their own private finances. Caesar entered into this in a typical fashion, borrowing extensively, largely from Crassus, and spending vast sums of money.







In addition to the events the aediles were required to organize, Caesar threw gladiatorial games in memory of his father. In Caesar’s time, such games were still associated with their funerary origins and could only be held as a memorial. Once again, he spent lavishly on the arrangements, calling for gladiators from all over Italy; he was finally curtailed in this by the senate, with only 320 pairs of gladiators being allowed to participate.







In borrowing and spending so much money, Caesar was making a gamble; he was buying public approval in the hope that this would allow him to rise to high office and pay off his substantial debts.One of Caesar’s last acts as an aedile was to have the trophies representing Marius’ victories over the Teutones and the Cimbri replaced in the forum; these had previously been removed by Sulla.It is also of note that throughout this period, Caesar was having affairs with the wives of several prominent men, including Pompey’s wife Muchia.





























 9) 63 BCE - The Catiline Conspiracy







In 63 BCE, Rome was rocked by scandal and conspiracy. The senator Lucius Sergius Catalina had been an unsuccessful candidate for consul on several occasions and he now realized that if was to advance further in his public career then he would have to do so by illicit means. Catiline promoted a policy of debt relief and was able to bring to bring several influential senators as well as many of Sulla’s veteran soldiers round to his cause.







Catiline planned to massacre the senate and to overthrow the Republic. Cicero, that year’s consul was to be assassinated on November 7
 th
 , but received forewarning and was able to avoid the attack. By now the city was rife with rumors about who was participating in the conspiracy and what precisely it entailed. Catiline was believed to be involved, but there was no hard evidence by which anyone could be prosecuted.
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Cicero Denouncing Catiline







Cicero called a meeting of the senate and was surprised when Catiline attended. The latter complained that he was a victim of untrue rumors and that the senate was choosing to trust in the word of a homo novum (new man – Cicero) instead of having faith in his own noble virtue. That night Catiline fled the city, claiming that was going into voluntary exile due to mistreatment by the consul, in reality he went to join his army.







Some of Catiline’s co-conspirators stayed behind in Rome to continue causing problems in the city. They approached an envoy from the GaulishAllobroges, who felt that their governor was oppressing them. Instead of joining the conspiracy, the Allobroges, went straight to Cicero. A trap was laid for five of the conspirators whereby letters that they had written were intercepted by Cicero’s men en route to Gaul. These men were then arrested and their case was heard before the senate.







Cicero gave his word that he would follow the ruling of the senate in the sentencing of the conspirators, but made it clear that he believed they should be executed. 14 former consuls then spoke and all confirmed that they too believed that the death penalty should be awarded. Caesar, who at the time was a praetor elect, took the floor and gave an eloquent speech arguing that the men should not be sentenced to die. He said that whilst he understood the emotional response of the other senators, the senate held too much responsibility to be ruled by emotion and should instead look to protecting the future of the Republic and refuse to set such a president. This was a potentially dangerous stand for Caesar to take as he had faced accusations from some of being party to the conspiracy. During the debate, whilst Cato was speaking, Caesar received a private note. Cato exclaimed that this was evidence Caesar was secretly in communication with the conspirators and demanded to read it. Caesar, having already read the note, passed it to Cato who threw it back at him, shouting ‘have it back, you drunk’, after realizing it was in fact a love letter from his half-sister Servilia.







Caesar’s speech was almost enough to convince the senate, however, Cicero received substantial support from Cato throughout the debate and in the end, was able to win the vote. The five conspirators were taken to the Tullianum and strangled. Catiline himself was eventually bought to battle by a Republican army and died in the fighting.





















 10) 63 BCE - Election to Pontifex Maximus and the Scandal of the Bona Dea







In 63 BCE, an election was held for a new high priest or Pontifex Maximus. This was an extremely prestigious position, as the head of the college of pontiffs, whoever won the election, would be the most important and influential figure in Roman religion. Caesar, along with several other more senior senators put themselves forward for the role. Had the senate had their choice in who the next priest would be they would most likely have picked Caesar’s rival Catulus, however, as the position was elected, Caesar was able to capitalize on his popularity with the public.
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Throughout his campaign, Caesar once again spent lavishly, gave generous gifts and did favors for anyone who might influence the result. Catulus, who knew that Caesar had massive debts, became so nervous of failure that he offered Caesar a large bribe to withdraw from the race; this did not have the intended effect. Caesar sensed weakness in his opponent and instead of backing down, started spending even more money on his campaign. Caesar was once again taking a huge gamble, losing the election would be an embarrassment with the potential of seriously damaging his future prospects. Without the likelihood of a bright future, his creditors were also far less likely to be generous regarding his debt repayment. When leaving home on the day of the election Caesar reportedly told his mother that he would either return as Pontifex Maximus, or not return at all.







The sources are conflicted as to how close the final voting was, but what is certain is that Caesar emerged victorious. As Pontifex Maximus, he would now have a vital role in the state religion as well as a new house, the publicadominica, along the eastern side of the forum, at the very center of the republic.







In the year after the election for Pontifex Maximus, Caesar’s home was chosen as the venue for the important festival Bona Dea (Good Goddess). The celebration took place at night and, as the associated rituals were to be done only in the presence of women, no men were allowed in the house. Despite this, Caesar’s wife Pompeia and her lover, PubliusClodiusPulcher, decided that the festival would provide them with the perfect cover for a liaison. Unfortunately for the lovers, Clodius, having disguised himself as a women and entered the house, was discovered by a slave girl whilst he was waiting for Pompeia. The girl ran away and reported to Caesar’s mother that there was a man in the house. Aurelia had all the entrances secured and led a search party through the property until they found Clodius.







In the days following the scandal, Caesar divorced Pompeia and the senate launched an investigation into the sacrilege that had occurred against the Bona Dea. Clodius was cleared of any wrongdoing, possibly after bribing several senators. Caesar was asked to give evidence in the trial, but he refused claiming a lack of knowledge. When asked why he had divorced his wife when he was not certain what had occurred, Caesar gave the now famous response ‘the wife of Caesar must be above suspicion’.







At the beginning of 63 BCE Caesar had been made a praetor and he left Rome before the conclusion of Clodius’ trial in order to govern in Hispania Ulterior. He was forced to leave Rome in a hurry, before his governorship of the province had been officially announced, as his creditors had finally begun to pressure him for the repayment of his loans.













 Part II: Caesar’s Political Career





























 11) 60 BCE - The First Triumvirate







Caesar returned to Rome in the summer of 60 BCE with his eyes set firmly on the consulship. He knew that in order to achieve this and to maximize his chances of having a successful time in office he would need powerful allies.







When Pompey had returned to Rome in 62 BCE, he had done so as a conquering hero; his campaigns abroad had been wildly successful and he had been awarded the right to hold a triumph, one of the highest military honors. Pompey entered the city, wearing a cloak that had supposedly belonged to Alexander the Great, with a grandiose procession and banners proclaiming that he had conquered the known world. Despite his reputation as a war hero, life in Rome was not easy for Pompey and this was particularly evident in the political sphere. Pompey had two main legal concerns that he wanted the Senate to deal with. The first of these was the provision of land that he had promised to the veterans of his campaigns and the second was the ratification of laws he had created in his newly conquered lands to the east. Neither of these were outrageous demands, but the Senate constantly frustrated him in his efforts. Crassus too was having difficulties with the Senate in regards to having a law dealing with tax reforms passed. Both men were hugely wealthy and influential and yet both of them were struggling to make progress with the senatorial elite.
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From left to right: Julius Caesar, Crassus, and Pompey the Great







Caesar saw an opportunity to capitalize on the dissatisfaction shared by Pompey and Crassus towards the rest of the senate. He realized that if he could convince Pompey and Crassus to put aside their differences and to work together then he would be placed in a very beneficial position. It is not entirely clear when or how Caesar approached the other two with the idea of working together, but it was possibly in the form of letters before he even arrived back in Rome. Nor is it clear the extent to which Pompey and Crassus publicly campaigned for Caesar to win. The earliest meetings of what was to become known as the ‘First Triumvirate’ took place in secret and it was not until early in 59 BCE, some months after Caesar had won the election, that the first suspicions of the three of them working in unison began to arise. The other senators were not happy with this development with some decrying it as the beginning of the end for the Republic and others referring to Caesar, Pompey and Crassus collectively as the ‘three-headed monster’.

























 12) 59 BCE - Caesar’s First Consulship







When Caesar first arrived back from Spain in 59 BCE, he was awarded the right to hold a triumph in honor of his military success. Caesar had planned to stand for consul in 60 BCE and in order to do so he needed to be physically present at the election. This presented a problem, as, according to Roman law, Caesar could not enter the city until his triumph had taken place and there would not be enough time to arrange this before the date of the election. Caesar petitioned the senate for the right to stand in absentia, but was blocked by Cato who filibustered the only assembly where the matter could have been voted on. Rather than giving up on a potential consulship, Caesar forewent his right to a triumph, entered the city and despite strong opposition from the Optimates, won the election.
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Caesar as consul







When Caesar was consul, he and Pompey held a public assembly to vote on a land reform law and, realizing that this could be a contentious issue, made sure that armed men, loyal to their cause, were stationed at all entrances to the forum. After Caesar had already begun his speech, the meeting was interrupted by the arrival of Bibulus and Cato along with the former’s lictors. The presence of Cato and the other tribune suggests that they were planning to use the tribune’s right to veto the bill, however, they arrived too late in proceedings to be able to exercise that right. Bibulus took his place alongside Caesar on the temple podium and pronounced his opposition to the proposed law to the watching crowd. A riot broke out, during which Bibulus was knocked from the platform; he bared his neck and announced that if he could not defeat Caesar then he would rather die. Instead of granting him the ‘honorable’ death he apparently desired, someone dumped a basket of manure over his head. Bibulus and Cato left the forum, but not before the lictors fasces had been broken (a great dishonour). Pompey’s men were able to pacify the crowd and the meeting continued without further interruption with the bill passing relatively easily. In the days that followed, every senator was asked to swear an oath that they would never attempt to repeal the bill on pain of exile. Within five days, every senator had taken the oath, including Cato, although only after Cicero had insisted that he was of more value to Rome within the city than he would be in exile.







At the next available opportunity, Bibulus called a meeting of the Senate, in the hopes that they would agree to strip Caesar of his office, however, none of the other senators were willing to oppose Caesar. Bibulus then returned to his house and did not appear again in public as consul.







In the springtime, both Caesar and Pompey announced that they were to be married; Caesar to Calpurnia, the daughter of Lucius CalpurniusPiso (who would be consul in the following year) and Pompey to Caesar’s daughter Julia. The marriage of Pompey and Julia was a last minute arrangement, made to strengthen the political ties between the two triumvirs; this involved breaking off a prior engagement of Julia’s.







Although Bibulus was no longer making public appearances, he was able to continue causing Caesar strife. As a consul, he was granted the right to arrange the dates for certain festivals and he made sure that whenever possible, these were set for days on the which public assemblies were permitted to convene. Whenever assemblies were able to meet, Bibulus sent messengers to declare that he had foreseen bad omens, meaning that the meeting would have to be terminated. Caesar, along with everybody else, knew that these declarations were a farce and eventually they were ignored. However, this transgression in legal procedure cast a shadow of doubt over the legality of the laws that Caesar was able to craft throughout the remainder of his term as consul.







Of primary concern to Caesar throughout this period was securing the command of an important province. The tribune Vatinius proposed to the senate that Caesar be given a five year command of the provinces of Illyricum and Cisalpine Gaul. The Senate agreed to this measure. Caesar had another piece of luck when the newly instated governor of Transalpine Gaul, MetellusCeler, died en route to the province and the senate voted to add this to the land already placed under Caesar’s command. The control of these combined territories would place 4 legions under Caesar’s command and provide him with the perfect opportunity to pursue military glory.







Caesar’s time as consul was largely successful, he managed to issue a series of major reforms, helped both Pompey and Crassus to resolve the issues they had previously had in the senate and secured an important province for himself. This success, however, had not come without a cost. Much of the legislature that he had passed had to be forced through the senate and he had furthered the enmity between himself and several powerful senators. Cicero’s writing increasingly expressed a concern that civil war was inevitable.

























 13) 58 BCE - Proconsul of Gaul







Caesar was 41 years old when he left Rome for Gaul in 58 BCE. Throughout the course of his nine years in the province he was able to conquer vast swathes of central Europe, including most of what is now modern France and Belgium and by doing so, greatly expanded the influence of Roman civilization.







Pre-Roman Gaul does not fit the definition of a modern nation, the local populace was not a united one, but rather made up different and often competing groups of people such as the Atrebates and the Belgae. These groups, whilst sharing a large degree of linguistic and cultural similarity, had their own distinct social structures and territories. Caesar was able to manipulate these differences and shifting allegiances by employing a ‘divide and conquer’ strategy against the Gauls. There was already a complex network of trade routes throughout the Gallic world and increased Roman activity in the area, even predating Caesar, had led to large quantities of Roman material culture being traded. For example, some estimates suggest that approximately 40 million amphorae of Roman wine were sold in Gaul in the 1
 st
 century BCE alone.
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Map showing regions of Gaul in 58 BC







The consequences of Caesar’s conquest of Gaul have echoed through the ages; the spread of the Romance languages, the establishment of legal institutions, imperialistic ideals as well as many other aspects of European culture all find a basis in Roman influence. The British Empire, in part justified its own expansion through emulation of the Roman concept of romanitas, the belief that they had a responsibility to spread civilization to what was otherwise perceived as a savage and barbaric world. When the armies of Hitler and Napoleon marched, they did so under imperial eagles. Even the United States has a direct correlation with Rome through its symbolic use of the eagle and a governing senate. All of these huge events in world history were made possible through the opening up of the Mediterranean world to northern and western Europe.







It is important to remember that when Caesar left for Gaul, his career had still been largely conventional. His military experiences, whilst largely successful, were limited and he was only slightly younger than the average age of a proconsul. Few in Rome would have had any reason to suspect that his Gallic campaigns would establish him as one of the greatest commanders in military history. Whilst Caesar always attempted to give his campaigns at least a veneer of respectability, allowing him to claim they were done for the good of the Republic, it is undeniable that his personal ambition and desire to prove himself an equal to the likes of Alexander was a major contributing factor in the annexation of Gaul.







Throughout his time away from Rome, Caesar was able to maintain his influence over the city’s politics. We have evidence of vast quantities of letters between Caesar and other senators, in particular Cicero, as well as of agents operating on his behalf in the city. In the winter months, when the weather did not lend itself to campaigning, Caesar would retire to Cisalpine Gaul from where he could have a more personal influence on events unfolding in the city.

























 14) 56 BCE - Lucca Conference







By 56 BCE, cracks were beginning to appear within the first triumvirate. The old rivalry between Pompey and Crassus had never really disappeared and the former was becoming increasingly paranoid about the latter; Pompey even confessed to Cicero that he was concerned Crassus may attempt to have him assassinated. Pompey was also beginning to question whether he really needed Caesar anymore. In addition to this, the legality of Caesar’s legislature as well as his right to the governorship of Gaul were being questioned in the senate. Caesar was being kept abreast of these developments throughout his absence and, recognizing that he needed to act, invited Pompey and Crassus to meet with him in the town of Lucca in Cisalpine Gaul.
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Modern city of Lucca







The precise nature of the meeting in Luca is unknown, Cicero suggests that Pompey may not have known that Crassus would be present, however, the final outcome was one that revitalized the triumvirate. The overall success of the meeting is generally attributed to Caesar who, through sheer weight of personality, seems to have been able to convince the other two that an alliance between all three would still prove to be mutually beneficial. It was planned that Pompey and Crassus would both run for consul in 55 BCE and that during their tenure in this role, would arrange a 5 year extension to Caesar’s command in Gaul. After a term as consul, both men would be in an extremely good position to secure commands in prominent and prosperous provinces with autonomy to act freely and freedom from prosecution; this in turn would result in all three triumvirs serving as proconsuls and having an overwhelming command of Roman military resources.





















 15) 54 BCE - The British Invasion







In 54 BCE, Caesar turned his eye to the British Isles. The ancient Romans viewed Britain as a mysterious and wealthy land but had little concrete information about what life was like there. As it was late in the campaigning season, Caesar realized that a relatively short raid was all that would be possible. With this in mind, he made arrangements for most of the army to remain stationed in Gaul. Enough ships were acquired to transport two legions along with accompanying auxiliaries and cavalry across the Channel. A reconnaissance ship was sent out several days in advance of the main fleet in order to scout the coastline for a suitable landing place. The fleet reportedly set sail at dawn and made landfall close to Dover in the late morning. This was the first crossing of the English Channel by a Roman military fleet. The ancient Britons had already been made aware of the impending Roman invasion and had warriors lining the cliff tops ready to greet them. Caesar ordered the fleet to sail along the coastline in an attempt to find a safe place to disembark. Those British warriors that were on horseback or in chariots were able to keep pace with the fleet and were very nearly successful in repelling the Romans when they did finally attempt to land.
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Edward Armitage's reconstruction of the invasion







After defeating the British force, Caesar was able to establish a temporary army base on the coast. The Romans were, however, left in a precarious position when most of their fleet was destroyed or damaged by a storm. The ancients Britons, realizing the isolation of their enemy, attacked a group of Roman foragers compelling Caesar himself to lead a small rescue force. Caesar was successful in rescuing his men but the skirmish was a victory for the Britons. The natives were, however, unable to capitalize on their success and failed in their attempt to capture the Roman army camp. As soon as the fleet had been made seaworthy again, Caesar sailed for Gaul.







Despite the lack of any tangible gains, Caesar’s 1
 st
 British raid was a propaganda victory in Rome and for his venture into an unknown territory he was granted 20 days of public thanksgiving. Caesar made a 2
 nd
 raid on Britain the following year with somewhat more successful. He took with him 5 legions and a larger cavalry and, with this larger force, was able to progress north of the river Thames. By the time he left Britain for the last time several weeks later, he was able to do so with large quantities of slaves and hostages and having established a client kingdom for Rome. Over the next century, Britain would become increasingly connected to the Roman world through diplomacy and trade until it was finally annexed under the reign of the Emperor Claudius in 43 CE.







Whilst Caesar was in Britain, he learnt that his daughter Julia had died in childbirth and that the child had not long out lived her. This was not only a personal tragedy, but also a potential political one as it weakened his relationship with Pompey. Caesar attempted to rectify the situation by suggesting that he divorce Calpurnia and marry Pompey’s daughter Pompeia and that Pompey in turn marry his niece Octavia; Pompey declined the offer.







The triumvirate was dealt a final blow in 53 BCE when Crassus, whilst on campaign in the east, suffered a humiliating defeat at the hands of the Parthians. The Roman army was forced to retreat and soldiers were hunted down by the Parthian Cavalry. Roman casualties were heavy and they lost several legionary standards. Crassus’ head was sent to the Parthian King.

























 16) 52 BCE - Pompey’s Year As the ‘Consul Without A Colleague’







In 52 BCE, there was rioting on the streets of Rome caused by the latest round of consular elections; this culminated with the murder of Clodius by the followers of one of the candidates and the burning of the senate house. The unrest prompted the senate to undertake an act of dubious legality by having Pompey elected as the sole consul, or ‘consul without a colleague’ for the remainder of the year in the hopes that he would be able to restore order.






[image: 16.jpg]



Roman statue of Pompey, at the Villa Arconati a Castellazzo di Bollate (Milan, Italy).



In 1627 it was brought there from Rome by GaleazzoArconati.











The deaths of Julia and Crassus meant that the ties between Pompey and Caesar were now virtually severed. Instead of taking Caesar up on his offer of marrying his niece Octavia, Pompey chose to marry Cornelia Metella, the daughter of Scipio and this, combined with his ability to control the mob in Rome and restore order to the state, meant that he was able to find favor with powerful and high ranking senators. These men often chose to go by the term Optimates (best men) and were primarily from influential and ancient Roman families.

























 17) 51 BCE - Caesar Attempts to Run For Consul In Absentia







One of the reasons why Caesar’s campaigns in Gaul are so well regarded in the annals of military history is the fact that he recognized the value of writing about his deeds. The precise date for the publication of Caesar’s The Gallic Wars is not known, nor is it certain if it was published in its entirety at the end of Caesar’s term in Gaul or in a serial format at the end of each campaigning season. The Gallic Wars is widely considered to be one of the finest examples of Latin literature and allowed Caesar’s military campaigns to be studied by aspiring military leaders for centuries.
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The extent of the Roman Republic in after Caesar's conquests











By 51 BCE, the conquest of Gaul was virtually complete and Caesar was able to set up an effective provincial administration to govern the province. The military success of Caesar’s campaigns in Gaul had been immense and under ordinary circumstances he could have expected to be received in Rome with full military honors. Caesar, however, was concerned that as soon as he gave up the legal protection of his command, his enemies in the senate would seek to prosecute him for the irregularities committed during his term as consul ten years previously. The only way to protect himself from this was to maintain public office by standing again for consul but a recent change in Roman law meant that it was no longer legal for consular candidate to stand in absentia; this was problematic as Caesar could not legally enter Rome without laying down his command. Caesar attempted to mitigate this by having the tribunes pass him an exemption to this rule in 52 BCE, the senate, however, refused to recognize this and demanded that Caesar surrender his command and return to Rome.







This stalemate continued for approximately 18 months with both sides refusing to back down. Caesar’s enemies in Rome, and in particular Cato, continued to insist that Caesar would be prosecuted for his previous wrongdoings. There were successive measures put before the senate demanding that Caesar return to Rome, however, Caesar’s man Mark Antony was now the people's’ tribune and was able to use his veto. Caesar, for his part, offered several concessions, first of all to give up command of Transalpine Gaul and all but two of his legions and then to limit himself to only Cisalpine Gaul and one legion. It is likely that Pompey would have accepted this offer but he was overruled by Cato and Metellus Scipio. It is unlikely that any of these men wanted to start a civil war, they simply wanted Caesar to submit.







In the December, a false rumor was spread that Caesar had invaded northern Italy and in response, the consul Marcellus, who was fervently anti-Caesar, summoned Pompey, presented him with a sword, gave him command of two legions and told to raise more men and to defend the Republic. None of this was legal as it had not been ratified by the senate; Pompey said that he would fight if necessary and called for more men.







In January 49 BCE, a letter of Caesar’s was read out in the senate, wherein he claimed that he would lay down his command provided Pompey also gave up the command of his province. On January 7th, the senate passed the senatusconsultumultimum, a special ruling that suspended normal law and was not subject to the tribune’s veto. All proconsuls, consuls, praetors and tribunes close to the city were instructed to ensure that the Republic came to no harm.







Once this law had been passed, both tribunes and Curio, another politician who had been vocal in his support for Caesar had themselves disguised as slaves and smuggled out of the city on a wagon. As soon as Caesar heard of the passing of the senatusconsultumultimum, he began preparing his men for war. Caesar would later maintain that he had been forced, unwillingly, into military action in order to defend his dignities.

























 18) 49 BCE - Caesar Crosses the Rubicon







In the months prior to the outbreak of the civil war, Caesar had been stationed at Ravenna, just to the north of the border with the Italian peninsula. He been deliberately avoiding the appearance of preparing for war and as such had only one legion with him, the thirteenth, when he decided to march on Rome. As the majority of his troops were still stationed to the north of the Alps, this was huge gamble there was no guarantee that he would win the war and as soon as he crossed the border into Roman lands, he would legally be considered a rebel.







The border between Gaul and Roman territory was made up by the river Rubicon. If Caesar crossed this with his army then he would automatically be considered a rebel. When he reached the river he is said to have stopped and ruminated with his officers about the personal cost to himself if he did not cross and the cost to the Roman world if he did. Contemporary sources differ on what Caesar’s final remark was before crossing the river, but it was along the lines of ‘let the die be thrown’ or ‘the die is cast’.
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Julius Caesar pausing on the banks of the Rubicon















As soon as news reached Rome of the invasion, Pompey advised the senate that they were undermanned and should make a tactical retreat to Brundisium, where they would be able to raise further troops.







Caesar met with very little opposition throughout his invasion. Where he did meet resistance, he was restrained in his victory, refusing to give harsh punishment to those who had fought against him. Any Pompeians, including high-ranking commanders, who were captured, were shown clemency and given their freedom. Caesar also kept a tight reign over his men, ensuring that they did not terrorize or ransack the territory they were moving through.







Throughout this time, Caesar sent repeated requests to Pompey for a face-to-face meeting in order to negotiate, but was continually denied. Caesar led his army to Brundisium but did not arrive there in time to prevent Pompey, his men and many senators, including Cato, from sailing to Greece to raise an army.







Caesar then marched to Rome and established a rump senate in the city. When Pompey and the senators had left, they had left the city undefended and without the normal functions state. By attempting to re-establish some form of the city’s normal legal processes, Caesar hoped to be able show himself as the wronged defender of the true Republic and the Pompeian faction as the real rebels.







The majority of Pompey’s forces were stationed in Spain and Caesar decided that the best course of action would be to confront these men, rather than going after Pompey directly. The resultant campaign was remarkably quick, taking only a few months. Caesar was able to defeat Pompey’s men without fighting a full-scale battle by continually out-maneuvering the enemy forces and eventually forcing their capitulation as they were running out of resources. As throughout Caesar’s campaign, all enemy combatants including commanders were shown clemency.







Once back in Rome, Caesar wished to legitimize his rule by being elected consul. However, under Roman law, consular elections could only be held under the auspices of the incumbent consul, neither of whom were in the city. Caesar suggested that a praetor oversee the event, but the college of augurs overruled this. Instead the praetor, Marcus Lepidus, invested Caesar with the powers of a dictator, which made him eligible to hold the proceedings. Caesar and PubliusServiliusVatiaIsauricus were accordingly elected as consuls for 48BCE; there were no other candidates in the election. Elections were then held for the other magistracies. Caesar held his first dictatorship for only 11 days, choosing to give it up when he left the city.





























 19) 48 BCE - The Grecian Campaign and the Battle of Pharsalus







Whilst Caesar was campaigning in Spain, Pompey had been in Greece building up and training his army into a formidable force. Caesar left Rome for Brundisium, intending to follow Pompey to Greece to neutralize the threat he represented. Unfortunately for Caesar, he did not have enough ships to transport all of his men and so he was forced to depart with only 15,000 infantry, 500 cavalry and minimal equipment and supplies. Mark Antony was left in Brundisium to await the return of the ships and to arrange the transport of further troops. An additional complication was that Pompey had managed to raise a fleet of 500 war ships, commanded by Bibulus, and many smaller scouting vessels that was currently operating in the Strait of Otranto through which Caesar would have to pass in order to reach Greece. Caesar’s decision to leave in winter and to again campaign off-season, caught the fleet unprepared and the first convoy made it to Epirus unscathed. Caesar’s transport ships were immediately sent back to Mark Antony, but now that Pompey’s fleet was aware of what was happening, the journey was much more perilous. Bibulus was ruthless in his persecution of the crew of any ships that were captured and had all prisoners executed regardless of rank. It was to be some weeks before Mark Antony successfully made the crossing.
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Pompey, realizing the precarious position in which Caesar was caught, was unwilling to engage him in direct battle when hunger and a lack of supplies could do the job for him; even when Mark Antony arrived with additional men, Caesar’s army was still massively outnumbered.







Caesar made an attempt to capture the city of Dyrrhachium, one of Pompey’s main supply depots but was ultimately unsuccessful as Pompey’s forces arrived in time to protect it; the attempt cost Caesar 1000 legionaries. The fighting at Dyrrhachium mainly consisted of siege warfare and skirmishes and despite his success there, Pompey was unwilling to fight a pitched battle against Caesar therefore losing the initiative and giving Caesar’s army the opportunity to leave the area and regroup.







Pompey came under increasing pressure by the senators who had accompanied him from Rome to put an end to Caesar once and for all and, despite his better judgement, he finally succumbed to this when the two armies were maneuvering in the plains of Pharsalus.







At the time of the battle, Pompey's army outnumbered Caesar’s by approximately 46,000 to 21,000, however, his men were mainly lacking in experience whereas Caesar’s were hardened veterans. Pompey’s plan relied on his larger numbers being able to keep Caesar’s front line occupied whilst a huge cavalry charge, in excess of 6,000 horses, flanked the main body of the army. Pompey’s plan was hardly subtle, such a large horde of riders could mean only one thing and he underestimated Caesar’s abilities as a general. Caesar positioned his 1000 strong cavalry opposite Pompey and hid a line of cohorts behind them. When the charge came, it was undisciplined and, possibly deliberately, Caesar’s riders gave ground drawing Pompey’s men further in where they were routed by the hidden cohorts. These cohorts were then swung round to flank Pompey’s army. The battle was a decisive victory for Caesar, he claimed to have lost as few as 230 men, whereas the Pompeian forces had suffered closer to 6000 casualties.







Pompey abandoned his men as soon as he saw the cavalry charge fail and made his way to Egypt in disguise. In the aftermath of the battle Caesar continued his policy of clemency, ordering that no Roman citizens were to be killed unless absolutely necessary. This offer was also extended to Servilia’s son Brutus, whom Caesar was reportedly delighted to find amongst the survivors.





























 20) October 2, 48 BCE - The Alexandrian War







In 48 BCE, Egypt was in the midst of its own civil war. The previous king Ptolemy XII, also known as ‘the flute player’ had died and left two of his children, Cleopatra VII and Ptolemy XIII, as co-rulers. Cleopatra had been betrayed by her younger brother and his advisors and been cast out of Egypt. Instead of accepting her fate, Cleopatra had raised an army and marched on Egypt to reclaim her throne.







When Pompey went to Egypt he was hoping he would find support there that would allow him to rebuild his fortunes and take the fight back to Caesar. Instead, upon his arrival, he was immediately betrayed by the Egyptians and murdered. Caesar, along with 4,000 legionaries, arrived only three days after the murder. Caesar reportedly wept when the Egyptians presented him with Pompey’s head and signet ring. It is possible that Caesar was demonstrating genuine grief on this occasion; the two men had had a long-running and often highly successful alliance and there may well have been some affection between the two. It is unlikely that, even for political reasons, Caesar would have sought Pompey’s death in this manner; it would have been far better for him had Pompey been forced to publicly accept Caesar as his superior. Despite this, these events did show that the local regime was attempting to demonstrate friendship towards Caesar. Caesar demanded the repayment of 40 million sesterces that had been lent by Rome to Ptolemy XII and went to the palace at Alexandria, agreeing to arbitrate in the succession dispute.






[image: 20.jpg]



The ancient Ptolemaic Empire (pic: Thomas Lessman)







Unbeknownst to the Romans, the eunuch Pothinus, one of Ptolemy’s advisors sent word to the Egyptian general Achillas to besiege the palace. Achillas had a force of 20,000 men meaning that Caesar was seriously outnumbered. Caesar had control of only the palace, a few out buildings and the harbor and defeat meant almost certain death. To make matters worse, the Egyptians were blockading the harbor entrance meaning that no supplies or reinforcements could get through to Caesar and his men. Caesar gave an order for the Egyptian ships in the harbor to be burnt and in the ensuing confusion, the flames spread to some of the surrounding buildings. Whilst disputed by some historians, it is possible that this fire was responsible for at least partially destroying the famous Library of Alexandria.







Cleopatra managed to have herself smuggled into the palace, not in a rug, as legend would have it, but in a laundry bag. She recognized the importance of gaining Caesar as an ally in her struggle for the throne and so had herself presented to him as a gift. Cleopatra, like all of the Ptolemies was of Greek-Macedonian descent and whilst we will never know the truth behind the claim that she was one of the great beauties of the ancient world, we do know that she was highly educated and spoke multiple languages (according to Dio, in a charming voice). Whatever her appeal, Caesar succumbed to her seduction and the two became lovers.







Whilst the siege was still underway, Pothinus’ treachery was discovered and Caesar had him executed. The young Ptolemy, who was only about 12 years old at the time and had promised not to fight Caesar, was released to Achillas’ forces where he immediately broke his word.













 Part III: Life As A Roman Emperor





























 21) February, 47 BCE - The Island of Pharos







When the siege of the palace had been underway for some months, Caesar made an attempt to capture the island of Pharos. This was situated in the harbor and was the location of the lighthouse of Alexandria, one of the seven wonders of the ancient world.
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Drawing of the lighthouse of Alexandria











Despite the attack getting off to a good start, Caesar’s men were soon overwhelmed and began a panicked retreat. Caesar recognizing that defeat was imminent, attempted to join the retreat, however, his boat was soon swamped by desperate men. Caesar was forced to take to the water and swim for the shore. According to Plutarch, he swam one-handed so that he was able to keep important documents safe above his head. Suetonius adds further detail to the scene by claiming that Caesar also held his purple general’s cloak in his teeth to prevent it being captured by the Egyptian forces, however, this is disputed by other sources.





















 22) March, 47 BCE - The Battle of the Nile







Despite the best attempts of the Egyptians, Caesar had managed to get word of his situation out to his allies and requested reinforcements. These arrived in the form of two Roman legions and the army of King Mithridates of Pergamum. Once Caesar heard that his allies were nearby he left a small garrison at the palace in Alexandria, and sailed to meet them in the Nile delta.



The ensuing battle along the banks of the Nile took place on March 26
 th
 47 BCE and was a decisive victory for the Romans. Despite the two sides being equally matched, with approximately 20,000 men apiece, the Egyptians were unable to compete with Caesar’s military tactics. In the chaos after the battle, the Ptolemaic camp was sacked and thousands, including Ptolemy attempted to flee the scene. In an instance reflecting Caesar’s experiences when trying to capture the island of Pharos, Ptolemy’s boat capsized but, unlike Caesar, Ptolemy was unable to swim to the shore and he drowned in the Nile.
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Illustration of Caesar's troops







The siege had gone on for the best part of six months, during which time, Caesar had been virtually cut off from the rest of the world and had been unable to participate in the Roman civil war. The defeat of Pompey at Pharsalus had dealt a serious blow to Caesar’s enemies but it not won him the war. In fact Caesar’s war effort had been going rather poorly throughout his enforced absence. Despite this Caesar chose to linger in Egypt for as long as three months after Ptolemy’s defeat. Caesar and Cleopatra spent much of this time cruising the length of the Nile to the southern border of Egypt, whilst the army marched alongside. Reportedly, Caesar would have gone further had his army not refused to follow. There is no clear reason for why Caesar chose to do this. An argument can be made that by marching the army the length of the country he was enforcing the image of Roman strength and of Cleopatra’s rule with the local populace. Perhaps, though, he simply wanted a break; he was no longer a young man and had been on campaign almost continually for a decade; the thought of cruising in luxury with a young lover rather than returning to war must have been a tempting one.





















 23) June 23, 47 BCE - The Birth of Caesarion







Caesar left Egypt on June 23
 rd
 47 BCE, having established the country as a client kingdom of Rome. On the death of Ptolemy XIII Cleopatra married (as was customary in the Ptolemaic dynasty) her remaining brother Ptolemy XIV and had him pronounced co-ruler. It is believed that Ptolemy XIV ruled in name only and that Cleopatra was the real source of power in the Egyptian monarchy at this time.
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Relief of Cleopatra VII and Caesarion at the temple of Dendera, Egypt







Caesar left Cleopatra with the support of three Roman legions, under the command of the legate Rufio. Either shortly before Caesar’s departure, or soon after he left, Cleopatra gave birth to a son whom she named Caesarion and claimed was Caesar’s child.

























 24) August, 47 BCE - Veni, Vidi, Vici







Caesar left Egypt after hearing reports of troubles in Asia Minor. King Pharnaces, the son of Pompey’s former rival Mithridates of Pontus was causing problems. In the earlier war, Pharnaces had allied himself with Rome and as reward for his loyalty to the Republic, had been installed as monarch in a small part of Pompey’s Eastern Settlement. He was now using this position as a base from which to re-conquer his father’s former territories. Pharnaces’ troops were ruthless in their conquest, they had been given orders to castrate any Roman citizen they captured; these would have been mainly civilians as Pompey had recently drained the area of troops to support his civil war effort.







Despite hearing rumors of unrest in Rome, Caesar knew that he could not allow such transgressions on the part of a foreigner to go unchecked without risking serious damage to his reputation. Caesar made his way to Cappadocia, where an envoy sent by Pharnaces met him. The ambassadors presented him with a golden wreath and reminded him that they had not sent any troops to Pompey. Caesar was told that Pharnaces wanted to make peace with him and asked only to keep the lands he had already conquered. Caesar, in turn, reminded the ambassadors of the brutality that had been inflicted on Roman citizens and insisted that Pharnacesretreat, release all prisoners and return any spoils of war. Caesar’s offer was refused.
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Bronze shield in the name of King Pharnakes







Caesar’s army pressed on and he finally encountered Pharnaces’ forces close to the hilltop town of Zela. Caesar’s men were setting up camp when Pharnaces made the poor tactical choice of launching an all out, but uphill attack on them. Although initially caught by surprise, the more experienced Romans were able to rally themselves, form a line, break through Pharnaces’ assault and annihilate his army. Pharnaces escaped, but was killed by a rival soon after returning to his own kingdom.







Caesar’s campaign was impressively swift, taking only a few weeks in its entirety. When Caesar wrote to one of his agents in Rome to report the victory, he coined the now famous phrase ‘veni, vidi, vici’, ‘I came, I saw, I conquered’. This phrase went on to be used prominently in the triumph that was held on Caesar’s return to Rome. Caesar also used the speed of this campaign as an opportunity to mock Pompey’s successes in the east by proclaiming that he was lucky to have had the opportunity to make his name by fighting against such ‘fragile foes’.





















 25) October, 47 BCE - The African Campaign







Soon after the Battle of Pharsalus, Mark Antony returned to Rome to manage events whilst followed Pompey to Egypt. Mark Antony as Caesar’s chief subordinate held the title Master of Horse (Magister Equitum) and from January 47 BCE until Caesar’s return in the Autumn he was the supreme authority in Rome. The city was in a state of political and social turmoil after the events of the Civil War and Antony, although a brilliant soldier, was not a capable enough politician to solve these issues. His behavior throughout his time of ascendency may well have done serious damage to the public image of the new Caesarian regime. It is said that Antony took to dressing up as Hercules, that he rode around the country in a war chariot (presumably British) and at one point may even have experimented with a chariot pulled by a team of lions! He had a string of high profile affairs with the wives of powerful men and took to drinking copiously. At one public meeting in the forum, Antony had to halt the proceedings because he was drunk and needed to vomit.
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Bust of Mark Antony in Vatican City











There was rioting in the forum over the issue of the abolition of debt and Antony was only able to resolve the issue through military force. This, combined with Antony’s increasingly out of control behavior did nothing to assuage the fear that Caesar planned to rule through tyranny.







One of the most serious problems that required Antony’s attention during this period was unrest in the army. Most of Caesar’s men had returned to Italy after the Grecian campaign and were encamped at Campania. Many of them had reached the end of their period of service and were due to be discharged and more still were growing restless with inactivity and a sense that Caesar had not kept the promises he had made to them throughout their many campaigns together. Antony visited the army but was unable to calm the men.







When Caesar returned to Rome, he had to spend some time attempting to resolve the problems in the city. He gave up the role of dictator, this had been granted to him again in 48 BCE, and had himself declared consul for the third time; he also held elections for all the other magistracies. It is impossible to know precisely how rigged these elections were but Caesar was at least attempting to give the impression that state operations were returning to something approaching normal.







Reports reached Caesar that Pompeian forces were reuniting under the command of Cato, Scipio and other prominent Optimates and had made an alliance with King Juba of Numidia. Caesar once again realized that military action would be needed if he were to put an end to this crisis. Before he could set sail though he would have to solve the problem of unrest amongst the ranks. Early one morning Caesar rode, unannounced, into the middle of the army encampment, which had relocated to the outskirts or Rome, and climbed up onto a podium. When his men realized that their commander was in their midst they gathered round him. Caesar asked the men what it was that they wanted and they expressed their wish to be discharged and their feeling that he had let them down by not keeping his promises. Caesar, in a gentle but reproachful tone, told the men that of course they could leave, he referred to them as citizens instead of comrades as he had always done in the past, he stated that he merely regretted that they felt he would let them down and that could have everything he had promised them. So persuasive was his speech that by the end, men were all but begging to be allowed to campaign with him again.







When Caesar set off for Africa, he was, once again, undermanned and undersupplied. He chose to rely on later convoys being able to get through to him – still a risky strategy as the Pompeians had maintained a powerful navy.







After campaigning in Africa with only limited success for several months, Caesar was finally able to bring the combined forces of the Optimates, under the command of Scipio and Marcus Petreius, and King Juba to Battle outside the town of Thapsus. Once again, the Pompeians had spent a long time avoiding a pitched battle and then chosen to fight on ground that was ill-suited to their needs. They had a large cavalry which they were unable to fully utilize as the battle took place on narrow strip of land.







The battle was a decisive victory for Caesar. Scipio escaped the fighting but committed suicide some weeks later in a naval encounter. King Juba and Marcus Petreius formed a suicide pact; they first fought a duel to the death and then the survivor, most likely Petreius, committed suicide.







Cato had not been present at the battle, but was stationed at the nearby town of Utica. Upon hearing of Caesar’s victory, he stabbed himself, apparently unable to stomach the idea of accepting Caesar’s mercy. His men were able to get to him in time to bind the wound, but were unable to prevent him from tearing his intestines out with his bare hands.

























 26) July 25, 46 BCE - Caesar, the Dictator of Rome







When Caesar returned to Rome, four great triumphs were held to celebrate his victories over the Gauls, Egyptians, Pharnaces and King Juba (notably not the Optimates as celebrating a triumph over fellow Roman citizens would not have been well received). Forty days of thanksgiving were proclaimed in his honor.







There were huge festivities throughout Rome, including theatrical productions and gladiatorial games (held in honor of Caesar’s daughter Julia). When a triumph was underway, normal military rules were relaxed and the men were permitted to sing bawdy songs about their commander. The soldiers referred to Caesar as the ‘bald adulterer’ and joked about his being ‘conquered’ by Nicomedes (Caesar seems to have still been sensitive about this subject as not long after this he took an oath swearing that their relationship had been entirely platonic; Cicero commented that this made him appear ridiculous).







Caesar awarded every soldier 5,000 denarii, all centurions 10,000 denarii, and each citizen of Rome 100 denarii and a grain ration as part of the celebrations. This angered some soldiers who felt that it was not fair for civilians to be rewarded for their hard work, however, the festivities were only slightly marred by their rioting. Soon after his arrival in the city, Caesar sent for Cleopatra and the infant Caesarion and had them set up in a villa across the Tiber from Rome; there is little reason to doubt that they continued their affair throughout this period.
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Cleopatra and Caesar, painting by Jean-Lon Grme (1866)







Caesar kept himself immensely busy devising and implementing new legislature for the city. He reformed the Roman calendar, attempted to resolve the city’s debt crisis, regulated the grain rations and dramatically increased the size of the senate to 900 senators. The majority of his new regulations seem to tie in well with his previous popularis voting record; on the whole, they stabilized the city and made life fairer for the average Roman citizen than it had been for many years. When acquisitioning land in order to fulfill his promise to his veterans, Caesar was careful to avoid dispossessing previous owners, or upsetting local populations when it was situated abroad. Caesar wrote in a letter that his political aims were “tranquility for Italy, peace for the provinces, and security for the Empire.”







Even, Caesar’s most vocal opponents did not so much take issue with the laws he was passing as with the manner in which they were being passed. Decisions were often made by Caesar and his closest subordinates behind closed doors; despite these not being presented to the senate, they were often issued in the form of senatorial decrees, sometimes even including a list of those who had supposedly been present and how they had voted. Cicero was, on occasion, surprised to receive a letter thanking him for his support over a particular issue when he had never heard of it, much less voted. Ruling in an autocratic manner, helped Caesar to pass a large amount of legislature in a short amount of time, but it did nothing to assuage the fears of powerful men, that the Republic was falling sway to tyranny.





















 27) April, 45 BCE - The Spanish Campaign







What was to be Caesar’s final military campaign began due to a mistake that he had made in choosing quaestor Quintus Cassius Longinus to govern in Further Spain. Cassius was a greedy man with an ill-temper who had made himself extremely unpopular amongst both his own men and the provincials. This ultimately led to an uprising and an attempt on Cassius’ life – he survived this only to drown when the ship, in which he was attempting to flee, sunk.







Two of Pompey’s sons, Gnaeus and Sextus, saw the uprising in Spain as an opportunity to revive their father’s cause and to restart the Civil War. At first Caesar thought his legates would be able to resolve the matter, but soon realized that this was not the case and that he would have to attend in person.
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Roman provinces of Hispania (modern Spain)







Even at this late stage of the war, there was still a risk that Caesar would be defeated. Caesar had only eight legions and only two of these could be considered as to be veteran. In comparison, Gnaeus had command of thirteen legions and a large number of auxiliaries.







The two forces finally met on the plains of Munda, where Caesar, trusting to his previous good fortune, risked an uphill attack against his enemy. The fighting was intense and lasted for at least eight hours. At one point, it looked as though the center of Caesar’s line was going to collapse, he recognized this and rode out in front of his men, dodging missiles or catching them with his shield. The men, recognizing the bravery of their commander were able to rally themselves, until finally one of Caesar’s legions was able to break through Gnaeus’ line and bring about his defeat.







The losses on both sides of the Battle of Munda were high. Caesar lost in the region of 1,000 legionaries and some reports put the Pompeians’ casualties as high as 30,000. Gnaeus was wounded in the battle and died later of his wounds but his brother Sextus was able to escape and went on to become a leader of the pirates in the Mediterranean, he would finally be executed by Mark Antony some ten years later. Caesar said of the fighting that he had many times fought for victory, but that Munda was the first time he had fought for his life.

























 28) October, 45 BCE - Caesar the Autocrat







Caesar’s return to Rome was once more met with the celebration of a triumph, this time over the defeated Gnaeus Pompey. In this case, however, the triumph was a cause for dissent as triumphs were supposed to be held only when celebrating victory over a foreign enemy and not fellow Roman citizens.







Throughout this time, Caesar’s rule was becoming increasingly autocratic; he was now appointing virtually all of the major magistracies. When one of the consuls for 45 BCE died suddenly on the morning of his last day in office, Caesar summoned the comitia centuriata and had a new consul, Caius CaniniusRebilus, elected for the afternoon. This event prompted Cicero to quip that no one had lunch during the consulship of Caninius and that he was so vigilant throughout his entire term that he did not sleep.







Around this time, Caesar began to dress in what he claimed was the style of the kings of his ancestral city, Alba Longa, this included wearing red calf-length boots and the purple toga of a general at public events. He began to emulate royal customs from the Hellenic world, including having coins minted in his likeness. It was also in this time that the first signs Caesar’s later deification became apparent. A pediment was added to the front of his house, in the style of a temple and the cult of DivusIulius was founded; statues of Caesar were placed amongst those of the gods.
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Cicero at the age of around 60







An increasingly sycophantic senate began awarding Caesar with more and more titular honors and rights. He was permitted to wear a gold and purple toga and to sit in a gilded chair at all senatorial meetings. When two of the tribunes, Gaius Marullus and Lucius Flavius, opposed some of these measures, Caesar caused an upset by having them from office and from the senate. Cicero, who earlier on in Caesar’s reign had been fairly optimistic, was becoming increasingly despondent.





























 29) February, 44 BCE - Dictator Perpetuus and the Festival of the Lupercalia







In February 44 BCE, the senate awarded Caesar the title dictator perpetuus, dictator for life. The ancient festival of Lupercalia took place on the 15
 th
 of that month and Caesar attended wearing a wreath and clad in his new purple regalia. As part of the ritual ceremonies, the priests of the Lupercal had to run through the streets dressed in only a loincloth and hit passers-by with whips made of goat hide. As head of the newly formed college of Julian priests, Mark Antony was the chief runner. Antony ran to Caesar and presented him with a diadem, a symbol of Hellenistic monarchy; he urged Caesar to take this and proclaim himself king. Caesar refused the offer and the crowd cheered, Mark Antony again offered the diadem and again Caesar refused to wild applause from the crowd. Caesar stated that Rome had only one king and ordered that the diadem be sent to the Capitol and placed in the Temple of Jupiter. The reasoning behind Caesar’s decision not to accept the diadem is still questioned to this day; perhaps he wished to become king but altered his decision when he saw the concerned reaction of the crowd or maybe the whole stunt was arranged to dispel, once and for all, the rumor that Caesar aspired to kingship. If this is the case then it may well have backfired, Cicero later wrote that it was Antony who had struck the killing blow to Caesar by raising the prospect of kingship on the day of the Lupercalia.
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The Lupercalian Festival in Rome by Adam Elsheimer







Throughout this time, there were rumors of plots against Caesar’s life and he was urged by his close associates to accept a bodyguard; he refused saying that he would not live in fear or have his freedom impeded. Caesar began making the necessary arrangements for further military exploits. His next campaign was to have taken three years and to have included his long-wished for conquest of Dacia and the subjugation of Parthia, in revenge for the death of Crassus and the loss of his legionary eagles. Caesar was scheduled to leave Rome on March 18, three days after the ides.





















 30) March 15, 44 BCE - Beware the Ides of March







One of the most famous legends associated with the downfall of Caesar is that his wife Calpurnia suffered from a portentous nightmare on the night of March 14
 th
 , 44 BCE. In the morning she begged her husband not to attend the senate that day and initially he conceded to her request. A visiting senator supposedly convinced Caesar to change his mind and to accompany him to the senate. Whilst Caesar was on route a Greek teacher, Artemidorus, who worked in Brutus’ household and had knowledge of the conspiracy, approached his litter and passed him a scroll, however, Caesar, lacking either time or inclination, failed to read it before he reached the senate. The senate met that day in the portico of the theatre built by Pompey the Great, as the curia, where they usually met, had still not been rebuilt after being burnt by the mob.







When Caesar arrived at the senate meeting, Mark Antony was engaged in conversation and led to one side by one of the conspirators in order to prevent him from taking his place at Caesar’s side and potentially being able to come to the dictator’s aid.
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The senators encircle Caesar, a 19th-century painting of the event by Carl Theodor von Piloty







Before the session had formally commenced the sixty conspirators, who were led by Marcus Junius Brutus, Decimus Brutus Albinus, Gaius Cassius Longinus, and Gaius Trebonius, crowded around Caesar’s chair to petition him to recall the brother of senator Lucius TilliusCimber, a Pompeian supporter, who was in exile – Caesar refused the request. As Caesar was listening to the senator’s pleas, PubliusServiliusCascaLongus moved behind him. Casca pulled Caesar’s toga from his shoulder and attempted, but failed to stab him. Caesar turned round in confusion and the remaining conspirators set on him. Although Caesar attempted to defend himself, he was unable to break free. Two senators did try to help Caesar, but they were unable to reach him through the frenzy of conspirators. Some sources state that when Caesar saw Servilia’s son Brutus amongst his attackers he stopped fighting and uttered his final words: ‘You too, my son’. Caesar pulled his toga over his head and collapsed at the base of Pompey’s statue, his body was collected several hours later by three of his slaves and returned home to Calpurnia; it was discovered that he had sustained 23 stab wounds throughout the assault.







At the insistence of Brutus, the conspirators had agreed that they would shed as little blood as possible in their coup d’tat. Only Caesar was to die and not even Mark Antony was to be harmed. In this, the conspirators made a critical error, they had only a band of gladiators to fight on their behalf whereas Antony had a legion, access to Caesar’s wealth and a copy of his will. The conspirators had undertaken the assassination with little thought to a long-term plan and in the short term, all they had managed to accomplish was a power vacuum in the heart of the Republic. In the weeks following the assassination, Antony would join with Caesar’s nephew Octavian (who had been legally adopted by Caesar as his son and was now formally known as Gaius Julius Caesar Octavianus) and military commander Lepidus to form the Second Triumvirate and within three years almost all of Caesar’s killers were dead. Antony and Octavian turned on each other and the Roman world did not again know peace until Octavian had himself proclaimed Augustus, the 1
 st
 Emperor of Rome in 27 BCE.







Caesar had well known the dangers inherent in ruling Rome as a dictator and the hatred that his fellow citizens had for autocracy, however, he took a final gamble that they would recognize the value of the stability that he had brought back to the city and that this would allow them to reconcile his method of rule; in this, his good fortune had finally run out.
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